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Introduction
This Half-Yearly Financial Report as at 30 June 2009 has been prepared pursuant to article 154ter of the TUF (Italian Consolidated Finance act) as amended by Italian Legislative Decree no.
195, 6 November 2007, implementing Directive 2004/109/EC (also referred to as the
"Transparency Directive"). The report aims to provide information on the Company's capital and
profit/loss positions as well as an illustration of significant events and operations that took place
during the period, together with their effect on the capital and financial position and on the
Company's profits/losses as a whole. The Report was prepared in application of the IAS/IFRS
international accounting standards, and IAS 34 in particular.

As it does not control any equity holding under Article 93 of the Italian Consolidated Financial Act,
Eurofly SpA prepares only individual financial statement.

In the condensed half-yearly financial statements, the income statement and the cash flow
statement for the half-year are compared to those of the same period of the previous year. The
net financial position and balance sheet accounts as at 30 June 2009 are compared to the
corresponding final figures as at 31 December 2008. Comparative financial data for the two
second quarters as at 30 June 2009 and 2008 are also provided.

Unless indicated otherwise, the figures are given in thousands of Euro, with the values of the items
rounded-off.
This report has been translated in English for the sole convenience of international readers.
The original Italian document should be considered the authoritative version.
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We present below the financial highlights and business indicators as at 30 June 2009, compared to
those of the same period of 2008 and the 2008 financial year.

EBITDAR (1): Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, Amortization and aircraft Rentals (or EBIT before
the operating rental costs of the aircraft - excluding wet rentals - and depreciation, amortisation, provision for risks
and charges, other adjustments and write-downs of non-current assets). EBITDA (2): Earnings Before Interest,
Taxes, Depreciation, Amortization. EBIT (3): Earnings Before Interest and Taxes. (4) For the item "Net cash and
cash equivalents", the Net financial position includes the elements described in more detail in the "Net financial position" paragraph.
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1.

CORPORATE BODIES
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2. Interim report on operations
2.1. Operating performance
2.1.1. Half-year results
The serious downturn that affected the economy worldwide during 2008 continued into the first half
of 2009. During this period the fall in confidence, reduction of net worth and credit constraints
brought about a loss of consumer demand and a significant fall in industrial output and GDP both in
the United States and in Europe. In this scenario the price of oil saw significant corrections in
comparison with the record levels achieved during 2008 along with a strengthening of the US dollar
against the Euro. Forecasts for the progress of the global economy continue to be negative for the
remaining part of the year.

Progress of the first half of 2009 compared with expectations
Eurofly's results in the first half of 2009 were affected by the global economic problems described
above. The numbers of passengers carried and hours flown were a reflection of consumer
spending capacity. Scheduled long-haul flights to New York and Senegal in particular were lower
than expected. To a less significant degree, neither did medium-haul flights to Tel Aviv reach
expectations because of the Israel-Palestine situation in early 2009, along with the routes from
Milan Linate to the southern Italian cities. The stability of the traditional leisure destinations (Egypt)
only partly compensated for the lower levels described above. Total revenues for the first half of
the year, specifically in the long-haul Business Unit were lower than estimated as described in
more detail in paragraph 2.1.2. The trend was anticipated in the May and June monthly statements
to the market. Operating and leasing costs exceeded estimates due the extended completion time
of certain unexpected activities concerning aircraft leaving the fleet. Furthermore, as was foreseen
in the business plan, three A320 aircraft entered the fleet under operating leases along with one
A330 aircraft, as its sublease to Israir ended (as reported in paragraph 2.1.3). Lastly, the extended
negotiations with the unions over the new solidarity agreement, finalised on 20 July with regard to
flight attendants, generated higher than budgeted personnel costs for 2009. As a result, the
operating result for the second quarter of 2009 and consequently for the half-year, was significantly
lower than anticipated.
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In consideration of the above, on 30 June 2009 the Board of Directors resolved to make revisions
to the Company's business plan, a decision which was confirmed on 29 July 2009.

Progress of the first half of 2009 compared with first half of 2008
A total of 20,641 hours were flown in the first half of 2009, showing a 9.0% fall in comparison with
the first half of 2008. This trend was more noticeable in medium than it was in long-haul, which had
already been affected in the first half of 2008 by the civil unrest in Kenya. Revenues from sales and
services amounted to Euro 143,065 thousand and showed a fall of 12.2% in comparison with the
first half of 2008; the result of both lower volumes and lower prices (the first half of 2008 featured a
surge in the cost of fuel, which was partially offset in the tariffs applied to tour operators).
Revenues from sales and services in medium-haul flights amounted to Euro 64,810 thousand (20.1% compared with 2008), and Euro 78,255 thousand for long-haul (-4.4% compared with 2008).
These latter figures include income deriving from codesharing agreements with Lauda Livingston
(offset by costs of equal amounts). Other revenues, amounting to Euro 3,036 thousand, a fall of
47.8% from the same period of 2008, were generated primarily by the subleasing of an aircraft.

The EBITDAR for the first half of 2009 came to Euro 4,939 thousand, a fall from the Euro 13,516
thousand of the first half of 2008. The savings made on the cost of fuel, following the falling price of
oil, only partially offset the decrease in revenue and the increase of operating costs (associated
with the strengthening Dollar against the Euro as well as the greater costs of the aircraft leaving the
fleet and operating event that concerned one aircraft in January). The EBITDAR margin was 3.5%,
compared with the 8.3% of the first half of 2008. To be more specific, the medium-haul EBITDAR
was Euro 3,154 thousand (Euro 7,444 thousand in the first half of 2008) and the long-haul figure
was Euro 1,785 thousand (down from Euro 6,073 thousand).

EBITDA, amounting to Euro -17,812 thousand, was down from the Euro -7,441 thousand in the first
half of 2008. As well as the factors illustrated above, this was due to the higher leasing costs
caused by the Euro/Dollar exchange rate. The EBITDA margin was -12.5%; -4.6 % of the first half
of 2008. To be more specific, the medium-haul EBITDA was Euro -5,581 thousand (Euro -1,162
thousand in the first half of 2008) and the long-haul figure was Euro -12,231 thousand (down from
Euro -6,279 thousand).

The EBIT figure for the half-year was Euro -21,887 thousand, showing a fall of Euro 9,152
thousand from the first half of 2008 (Euro -12,735 thousand). Depreciation, amortisation and
provisions came to Euro 4,075 thousand, which was down from the first half of 2008 through the
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reduced provision, offset partially by greater provision for risks and charges. The EBIT margin was
-15.3%, down from the -7.8% of the first half of 2008. For a breakdown by business area, the
medium-haul EBIT was Euro -7,814 thousand (-106.2% from the same period of 2008) and the
long-haul figure was Euro -14,073 thousand (-57.3% in comparison with the first half of 2008).

The first half of 2009 closed showing a loss of Euro 23,278 thousand (of which Euro 19,221
thousand related to the second quarter), which can be compared with the loss of Euro 14,962
thousand in the first half of 2008 (of which Euro 10,795 thousand related to the second quarter of
that year).

Translated from the original version in Italian
As at 30 June 2009 net equity stood at Euro 7,596 thousand (compared with Euro 28,438 thousand
as at 31 December 2008). Also due to the described seasonal effect and notwithstanding the
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Share Capital of Euro 39,178 thousand reached through the last capital increase, the loss for the
period gave rise to the company having a level of capitalisation lower than the threshold prescribed
by article 2446 of the Italian civil code (losses equivalent to greater than one third of Capital). Such
regulatory framework created the need for calling the Shareholders' meeting for 28 and 29
September 2009.

As at 30 June 2009 the net financial position showed a net cash of Euro 902 thousand vs the net
cash of Euro 5,557 thousand at the end of December 2008.

2.1.2. Operations in the second quarter of 2009
As illustrated in paragraph 2.1.1, the fall in demand for air transport resulting from the difficult
economic scenario, which affected all of the main operators in the industry, had a notable effect on
the second quarter 2009 results. Results in April, May and in particular June were below
expectations and below the corresponding quarter of the previous year following the reduction in
Company's revenues and increase in operating as the Dollar strengthened against the Euro, the
higher costs of wet leases as a result of the codesharing agreement with Lauda Livingston and the
non-recurring expense of the extended period of aircraft being away from the fleet.
To be more specific, the second quarter of 2009 saw 10,936 hours flown, down 11.5% from the
second quarter of 2008, mainly due to operations of long-haul flights (-25% difference between the
two quarters). Revenues from sales and services amounted to Euro 63,508 thousand (-24% down
from the second quarter of 2008); a consequence of the reduced volume of operations and tighter
contractual constraints associated with the cost of fuel. EBITDAR amounted to Euro -4,178
thousand (compared with the Euro 3,108 thousand of the same period of 2008). EBITDA came to
Euro -15,778 thousand and recorded a fall of Euro 8,993 thousand compared with the second
quarter of 2008. The operating loss for the quarter was Euro 18,208 thousand, compared with Euro
9,632 thousand of the second quarter of 2008. The second quarter of 2009 therefore closed with a
net loss of Euro 19,221 thousand (compared with Euro 10,975 thousand of the second half of
2008).
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Translated from the original version in Italian
2.1.3. The fleet

The composition of our commercial fleet from January 2008 to June 2009 and the variations
implemented during the period are described in the table below. During the first nine months of
2008 the fleet remained stable at eight A320 medium-haul aircraft and four A330 long-haul aircraft.
Two A320 aircraft (I-EEZC and I-EEZD) left the fleet in October 2008 and January 2009 through
expiry of contract. In March 2009 one A330 aircraft (I-EEZM) returned to the fleet, having
previously been subleased to third-party operators, to replace the aircraft I-EEZA, which left the
fleet through expiry of contract. Again in March 2009 two A320 aircraft (I-EEZN and I-EEZO) joined
the fleet, which only began operating however in the following month of April (and therefore
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appeared in the table from that month) after undergoing the prescribed phase-in procedures. In
April 2009 another A330 aircraft (I-EEZB) left the fleet, bringing the long-haul fleet to three aircraft,
as was envisaged in the business plan. In May another A320 aircraft (I-EEZP) joined the fleet, and
began operating in mid June.
In total the commercial fleet was available in the first half of 2009 for 63 aircraft-months, compared
with the 73 of the first half of 2008.

In consideration of the current market difficulties and the short and medium-term outlook, the
Company decided not to include the anticipated tenth A320 aircraft but instead to enter into
temporary wet lease agreements to expand the medium-haul capacity solely in the high season.
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2.1.4. Commercial business

The national and international situation influenced commercial decisions taken for the first half of
2009, which featured intensification of the medium and long-haul charter programme and a slight
reduction of scheduled flights, particularly long-haul.
This period of the year saw the continuation of the IATA winter season operations, which began in
October and finished at the end of March. The summer programme follows and only gets into full
swing halfway through June.

The first part of the half-year saw a confirmation of the positive trend in medium-haul charter
output.

Routes to the Maldives peaked at eight flights during the week during the winter season, with
departures from Milan Malpensa, Rome Fiumicino and Bologna. One specific anticipated route is a
Tuesday flight to Colombo, Sri Lanka, which as well as serving tourist traffic, will also be carrying
an element of the Sinhalese community in Italy.
The summer timetable, featuring the inverted seasonality of tropical destinations, saw a reduction
of weekly departures to three (every Saturday, Sunday and Monday).
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Flights to Kenya and Tanzania peaked at eight departures a week during the winter season, with
six to Zanzibar, Tanzania departing from Milan Malpensa, Rome Fiumicino and Bologna.
As April-June is the rainy season in that area of east Africa, operations were suspended for the
period.

We carried passengers to Mauritius and the Seychelles with three flights a week from Milan
Malpensa and Rome for the entire half-year period.

For the first half of the year flights to Caribbean destinations (Mexico and the Dominican Republic)
were operated by Lauda Livingston under the codesharing agreement, with Eurofly as the
marketing carrier.

As regards international medium-haul scheduled flights using A320s, the Milan Malpensa–Tel Aviv
route, initiated in December 2008 got up to speed during March 2009, with three flights a week
(Monday, Wednesday and Thursday) with the inclusion of departures from Rome Fiumicino and
Verona.

We enjoyed growing interest in our Bologna-Moscow and Milan Malpensa-Cairo routes, both twiceweekly.

As well as the early summer flights to Greece; to Mykonos from Milan Malpensa and Verona,
Santorini from Milan Malpensa, weekly charters were added to the new destination of Athens, from
Milan Malpensa, Naples, Rome Fiumicino, Bologna and Verona.

The codesharing with Meridiana continued on the following domestic routes, with alternating
marketing and carrying carriers:
•

Milan Linate-Naples with two flights a day;

•

Milan Linate-Palermo with one flight a day;

•

Milan Linate-Catania with two flights a day;

The greater part of operations on these routes was contributed by Meridiana, following the
temporary reduction of the Eurofly A320 fleet in the first part of the year.

The final part of the half-year saw the reactivation of the summer destination of Olbia from Milan
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Malpensa (as illustrated in the following paragraph) and the new routes to Lamezia Terme,
Lampedusa and Pantelleria were launched from Verona.

The long-haul routes to North America (from/to New York JFK) felt the economic crisis in both
markets with lower than anticipated results, such that they were subject to some rationalisation.
The timetable from/to Rome Fiumicino stood at three per week (every Wednesday, Friday and
Saturday). From mid May we were running connecting flights from Naples (every Thursday and
Saturday) and from Palermo (every Sunday).

Sardinian territorial continuity
On 27 January 2009 Eurofly submitted formal acceptance of the Public Service Charges imposed
by Ministerial Decree dated 5 August 2008 on the routes between Rome FCO and Milan LIN to
Olbia/Alghero/Cagliari and vice versa with effect from the IATA summer season 2009 and for 12
consecutive months.

On 2 March 2009 ENAC illustrated the need to limit the number of flights on the routes operated,
before inviting the designated carriers to share the permitted timetables. As a result of this
recommendation, Eurofly chose not to include its own capacity on the routes already covered by
Meridiana, for which we already act as marketing carrier.

With a communication dated 9 April 2009, ENAC formally acknowledged Eurofly as designated
operating carrier on all the routes covered, informing the existing operators (Meridiana, Air One
and Alitalia) of this decision and the Ministry of Transport, the Region of Sardinia and
Assoclearance.

In line with our trading and operational position, supporting Meridiana in the Milan-North Sardinia
market and at the same time avoiding wasting capacity in other markets, Eurofly scheduled three
weekly flights between Milan MXP and Olbia.
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2.1.5. Operating statistics

In the first half of 2009 Eurofly flew 20,641 hours, a fall of 9% in comparison with the 22,691 of the
same period of 2008, as a result of both the reduced capacity (from the fleet availability analysed
in paragraph 2.1.3) and the reduction in demand.
Medium-haul hours flown were down from 13,388 in the first half of 2008 to 11,951 in the first six
months of 2009 (-10.7%). This trend is in the main due to scheduled operations (please note that,
because of the reduction of the medium-haul fleet, certain flights between Milan Linate and
southern Italian cities were operated by Meridiana). In the comparison with the first six months of
the previous period, the first half of 2009 benefits from flights to Tel Aviv, which started at the end
of 2008.
The fall in long-haul was less evident (-6.6% from the 9,303 hours of the first half of 2008 to 8,690
hours in the first six months of 2009). The situation with flights to New York, which was affected
particularly by the economic crisis, was offset by the initiation of new routes to Senegal and the
growth in flights to the Maldives.
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The reduction of capacity both of medium and long-haul enabled us to sustain fleet productivity
levels (the ratio of hours flown to the availability of aircraft-months), in particular in long-haul,
whose output grew, regardless of the fall in hours flown.

The total number of scheduled and charter passengers, in the first half of 2009 from 2008 falls by
more than 23% because of the reduction of medium-haul (-27.2%, primarily flights between Milan
and southern Italy) and long-haul (-13.2%, this also relating primarily to scheduled flights).

2.2. Significant events during the first half of the year
2.2.1. Extraordinary call of the Shareholders' Meeting
As mentioned in paragraph 2.1.1, on 30 June 2009 the Board of Directors resolved to call an
extraordinary shareholders' meeting on 28 and 29 September 2009, pursuant to article 2446 civil
code, as the losses recorded in the first five months of the period amounted to more than one
third of the share capital.
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2.2.2. Review of the 2009 budget and business plan
On 30 June 2009 the Board of Directors, acknowledging that the results of the first five months of
the period were less than forecast and that there were no signs of downturn for the forthcoming
summer season, resolved to revise the budget and the business plan for the present year.

2.2.3. Appointment of the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors
During the Shareholders' Meeting held on 30 April 2009 for the approval of the 2008 Annual
Report, the new Board of Directors, comprising nine members in office until the approval of the
financial statements as at 31 December 2009 and the new Board of Statutory Auditors, in office
for the periods 2009-2011, were appointed to replace the previous corporate bodies, whose
mandates expired upon the approval of the annual report as at 31 December 2008.

2.2.4. Approval of a memorandum of understanding on the maintenance operations
spin-off
On 16 April 2009 the Eurofly Board of Directors approved a non-binding memorandum of
understanding for the creation of a joint venture for integrated aircraft maintenance services
(maintenance, repair & overhaul – MRO). The enterprise is to be created via the conferment to a
new joint stock company (NewCo) by Eurofly and the parent Meridiana of their maintenance arms
together with an injection of cash from the Spanish airline Iberia Lineas Aereas de Espana S.A.
and a leading Sardinian financial company (Società Finanziaria Rinascita Sardegna - SFIRS).

The NewCo will be controlled by the Meridiana group and will offer maintenance services both to
its group companies and third parties. An initial body of personnel of around 420 people is
envisaged. The turnover for 2010 is expected to be around Euro 44 million and investment in the
first two years will be around Euro 14 million (directly and via leasing). Eurofly will confer its
maintenance business, which currently has around 90 employees (specialist maintenance
technicians together with engineering and logistics staff), with the relative aircraft materials,
technical equipment and existing contracts with third party suppliers. This move, which does not
mean any direct investment by Eurofly over and above the initial conferment, will enable benefits
in terms of both operational and financial efficiency in the long term, through specialisation,
economies of scale and the development of the MRO services by the NewCo.
The formal incorporation of the Company and the initiation of operations are anticipated to take
place during the fourth quarter of 2009, following the completion of the necessary legal, technical
and administrative formalities.
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2.2.5. Complaint to the European Commission
Eurofly filled a complaint with the European Commission concerning the application of EC rules,
with special reference to those concerning abuse of dominant position and control of
concentration deals to the Alitalia/AirOne/CAI deal.
On 15 April 2009 a meeting was held with the offices of the Directorate General for Competition,
after which further information and data was requested in support of the complaint. The company
is currently preparing these information. Meanwhile, at the end of March 2009 an appeal was
submitted to the Court of First Instance against the decision by the European Commission
(Directorate General - Transport and Energy) which found that the CAI operation does not form
"State Aid" under the rules of the Treaty.
The Italian competition and market authority (L'Autorità Garante della Concorrenza e del Mercato)
found that the CAI operation is compatible with competition rules, while identifying appropriate
consumer protection measures. The hearing was held on 20 May 2009. The regional
administrative court (TAR) referred the case to the Constitutional Court, suspending judgement
on the previous appeals. The Constitutional Court will have to assess the legitimacy of the Alitalia
decree of 28 August 2008, which expanded the sphere of application of the Marzano law, with
which the focus of operations between the companies Alitalia and AirOne was permitted in
derogation of antitrust rules.

2.2.6. Implementation of the procedure under law 223/91
On 27 March 2009 the Board of Directors mandated the Chief Executive Officer to undertake
whatever is necessary to implement personnel restructuring ex Law 223/91 concerning 168
aircrew (pilots and flight attendants). On this matter two separate personnel restructuring
procedures were opened (pilots and flight attendants) with the sending of the prescribed
notifications to the Personnel concerned on 20 April 2009.
Negotiations were opened with the unions in order to seek possible ways of handling
redundancies in the least traumatic way, which was effectively put into effect with the signature of
a new solidarity agreement for cabin crew from 21 July 2009 (ref. paragraph 2.3 below). As
regards pilots, with no such agreement having been reached, contracts were terminated and in
the coming weeks following an appropriate management analysis, the procedure will proceed as
prescribed.
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2.2.7. Adoption of the organisation, management and control model ex legislative
decree 231
Pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01, on 17 February 2009 Company adopted its
organisation, management and control model by formal resolution of the Board of Directors. The
Model is the result of a specific project initiated during the 2008 trading period and concluded
definitively at the beginning of this period with the appointment of the members of the Oversight
Committee by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2009.

2.2.8. Conclusion of the share capital increase
In January 2009 the share capital increase deliberated by the Shareholders’ meeting on 10
September 2008 was concluded with the subscription of additional shares for an overall value of
Euro 2.7 million. The operation saw the issue of shares for a total value of Euro 32.7 million.
Meridiana's stock in the Eurofly capital grew from 46.10% to 60.73% (subsequently reducing to
59.58% following the sale of some shares). At the end of this operation share capital increased to
Euro 39.2 million.

2.3. Significant events after the close of the period

2.3.1. Review of the 2009 budget and business plan
On 28 August 2009 the Board of Directors reviewed the 2009 budget and business plan,
previously based on assumptions regarding external variables consistent with the macroeconomic
scenario of the beginning of the year. These factors were reviewed in the spring by the financial
institutions and IATA in order to take the new economic situation into account. The new forecasts
for the period review those approved on 26 February 2009 and are based on the following:
1) Macroeconomic variables (specifically exchange rates and fuel costs) updated to current
levels and the reduction of earnings per hour flown;
2) Reduction of the medium-haul fleet from 10 down to 8 A320 aircraft;
3) Reduction of scheduled long-haul operations;
4) Extension of the trade agreement with Lauda Livingston up to the end of the current
period;
5) New solidarity agreement solely for cabin crew (ref. paragraph 2.2.6);
6) Termination of pilots’ contracts with effect from November 2009.
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As a consequence of the lower than expected results in the first six months of 2009 and of the
reduced operations together with lower average unitary revenue expected for the second half of
2009, the new budget for the entire year forecasts revenues of around Euro 300 million,
significantly lower than previously estimated. Operating and maintenance cost, fuel costs and
operating leases will benefit from the planned reduction in operations and the trend in the Dollar,
which will partially offset the lower revenues. Earnings from operations, broadly anticipated to
break even in earlier forecasts, are now expected to be a loss of around Euro 20.9 million at the
end of 2009. This takes into account the extraordinary non-recurring costs of Euro 3.5 million
(previously calculated as at 30 June 2009) while the net loss is expected to be Euro 27.8 million.

On the same date the Board of Directors approved the new business plan for 2010-2015 (the
"New Business Plan"), which envisages:
1) Long-haul fleet of 3 aircraft up to May 2010, reduced to 2 thereafter;
2) Medium-haul fleet comprising 9 aircraft between June and September, reduced to 7 for

the remaining part of the year. Temporary wet leases of aircraft are anticipated for
seasonal peaks for the domestic leisure and international routes, including via the use of
MD80 aircraft whose greater availability on the market enables more competitive leasing
rates. Leasing aircraft, both to and from Meridiana, will enable greater interaction with that
company;
3) Long-haul operations to be rationalised via the concentration of flights to Africa and the

Indian Ocean, on which Eurofly expects to maintain leadership of the Tour Operating
market;
4) Medium-haul flights to Egypt will be reinforced and domestic flights between North and
southern Italy will be rationalized;
5) The contribution of aircraft maintenance operations to the NewCo with effect from the
fourth quarter of 2009;
6) The commercial distribution strategy to be strengthened across the traditional sales
channels (agencies, Web, etc) and with the activities fulfilled by the associates Sameitaly
and Wokita, by offering innovative services to the passenger;
7) Trends of uncontrollable variables (fuel costs, interest rates and exchange rates) aligned

with forecasts provided by the financial institutions and IATA;
8) Passenger load factor trends and unitary revenues for charter and scheduled flights in line
with the industry norms;
9) Reduction of catering costs from 2011 through reviews of existing contracts;
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10) Review of general and overhead costs with progressive cost saving projects to be put into
effect from 2010;
11) The benefit from the solidarity agreement with cabin crew until 2013. As regards pilots, a

reduction of personnel costs is anticipated through the effect of the expiry of contracts
without renewals with the consequent termination through age;
12) Quality of on-board service is anticipated to improve both by means of the reconfiguration
of aircraft interiors and new catering programmes.

From a financial point of view, the New Business Plan envisages the following:
13) Disposal of the Company's headquarter building during 2010;
14) Maintaining customer payment and overdue to supplier terms in line with the programme
put into effect in the first half of 2009;
15) Drawing credits from the Ministry of Labour for the solidarity agreements with a deferment
of around 12 months from qualifying for the entitlement, and therefore broadly greater than
the ordinary repayment times but in line with the delay period sustained thus far. In
particular the drawing of the existing credit of around Euro 8 million is anticipated by June
2010;
16) The renewal, with effect from October 2010, of credit lines with banking institutions for
equivalent amounts to those expiring at the same time and amounting to Euro 15 million.
Via the above measures the Company expects to have total revenues of Euro 290.0 million, an
EBIT of Euro -9.2 million and a loss of around 13.0 million in 2010. This will give rise to an equity
deficit from the first half of 2010, against which, as is described in more detail in paragraphs 2.3.2,
"Commitments taken on by the shareholder Meridiana to ensure going concern" and 2.4. "Outlook
on operations", interventions to recapitalise the Company are anticipated.
However, the forecasted results of the revised business plan depend significantly on
uncontrollable variables - as demonstrated by the results of the second quarter of 2009, which
illustrated clearly what has been often stated by the Directors. Moreover, in consideration of what
is described in more detail in paragraphs 2.3.2. "Commitments taken on by the shareholder
Meridiana to ensure going concern" and 2.4. "Outlook on operations", the completion in October
2009 of a feasibility study also regarding the financial convenience of Eurofly's integration with
Meridiana’s air transport operations - which could render forecast data included in the New
Business Plan under the "non integrated" scenario, irrelevant - it is not considered appropriate to
provide detailed information on the levels of revenue, EBIT and profit forecasts for each year of
the New Business Plan beyond 2010.
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2.3.2. Commitments taken on by the shareholder Meridiana to ensure going concern
As mentioned in the previous paragraph 2.3.1, "Review of the 2009 budget and business plan",
based on the forecast losses in the second half of 2009 and 2010 the Company's shareholders’
equity appears likely to be entirely written off already in the first half of 2010. On 27 August 2009
the Board of Directors of Meridiana, Eurofly's main shareholder, informed the Company that based on the possibility of developing structured feasibility studies in order to identify the
opportunities related to the business combination of the air transport activities of Meridiana and
Eurofly - has undertaken an irrevocable commitment to ensure Eurofly financial resources up to a
maximum of Euro 20 million in order to ensure the going concern assumption - over the 12
months starting from July 2009 - based on the New Business Plan and considering the expected
losses over that period. Such commitment is intended in order to allow the completion of the
preliminary analyses for the preparation of the integrated Business Plan and the consequent
realisation of the business combination for the purpose of creating value for the shareholders and
stakeholders of Meridiana and Eurofly.

Specifically, Meridiana has undertaken an irrevocable commitment to ensure financial resources
to Eurofly up to a maximum of Euro 20 million. This will ensure the going concern assumption
over a period of 12 months starting from July 2009, based on the New Business Plan. An amount
no less than Euro 15 million will be subscribed as cash capital increase - both with regard to
Meridiana share and the rights that could not be subscribed by other shareholders on the market and an amount up to Euro 5 million will be available in order to meet further liquidity requirements
pursuant to the New Business Plan.

Such irrevocable commitment has been undertaken by Meridiana while reserving the right not to
go ahead with the business integration if, after the completion of the feasibility studies, it does not
appear to be financially advantageous for the two companies involved.

2.3.3. July and August trend
In July and August the long-haul fleet was reduced in comparison with the same two-month period
of 2008 through the effect of one A330 aircraft leaving the fleet. Medium-haul fleet grew by one
A320, which came into operation in June.
In line with more recent estimates, total revenues realised in the indicated period are lower than
the previous year because of the reduced operations (in terms of hours flown) and the lower
adjustment to agreed price associated with the fuel price trend.
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As expected, the two-month period benefited from the seasonal effect, thanks to which the
operating results were in profit, and for the month of July results were in line with the revised 2009
budget.

The net financial position as at 31 July 2009 was a negative value of Euro 5.2 million, while as at
30 June 2009 it was in the black by Euro 0.9 million. Cash and cash equivalents reduced from
Euro 11.0 million as at 30 June 2009 to Euro 4.9 million as at 31 July 2009, through payments to
suppliers. Current bank debt remained largely unchanged (Euro 7.3 million at the end of July in
comparison with the Euro 7.1 million at the end of June). The current portion of non-current
payables and non-current bank debt, both relating to the mortgage loan, amounted to Euro 0.6
million and Euro 2.5 million respectively; unchanged from 30 June 2009.
As at 31 July 2009 net banking availability was a negative figure of Euro 2.4 million. As at 30 June
2009 these were positive values of Euro 3.9 million.

2.3.4. Solidarity agreement update
On 20 July 2009 Eurofly and the unions/professional associations representing cabin crew signed
an agreement to extend the employment contracts of Eurofly flight attendants up to 31 December
2014, and to provide solidarity agreements for the same period within the maximum limits allowed
by law. On the same date Eurofly and all unions/professional associations representing cabin
crew also formalised a Solidarity agreement having a duration of 12 months with effect from 21
July 2009 with the Italian Ministry of Employment, Health and Social Policy. This agreement
supersedes the personnel restructuring procedure relating to Eurofly cabin crew implemented by
the company on 20 April 2009 ex law 223/1991.

2.3.5. Programme for compliance with the Emission Trading Scheme directive
To meet the deadlines of European directive 2003/87/EC the Company implemented with the
parent company Meridiana and with the help of external consultants, a specific project aimed at
the implementation of a system of emissions monitoring and the definition of associated technical
procedures. The Company is required to present its emissions monitoring plans to the presiding
authorities. The plans must be approved before the end of the year, after which all operators will
be required to apply them, and submit an annual report on their emissions.
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2.4. Outlook on operations
As illustrated by the result of operations of the first half of the year (and in particular by the
progress of the second quarter of the year) and in consideration of the uncertainties associated
with the progress of the poor worldwide economic scenario, which has been shown to have
significant effects on sales volumes and commercial risks/ratios, it is very difficult to make
predictions with a good degree of accuracy on future data even if they relate to the short term. As
described in more detail in the previous paragraph 2.3.1, "Review of the 2009 budget and
business plan" the results anticipated for the second six months of 2009 and for 2010 outline the
entire erosion of the Company's shareholders' equity in the early part of 2010. In addition, it has to
be considered that the achievement of the targets for the 2009 Budget and New Business Plan for
2010 will be influenced significantly by the trend of variables such as the cost of fuel (with trends
expected to rise for primarily financial reasons, unrelated to the effective demand for oil) and
interest/exchange rates, passenger load factors, average revenue per passenger as well as
revenues per hour flown relating to charter flights, whose trend is not under the Company's control
and whose effect is particularly significant on achieving targets. Equally, other significant
assumptions for the purposes of short term financial equilibrium (ref. paragraph 2.3.1) are also out
of the Company's control. These include the finalization of the sale of the building, the collection of
the receivables for Solidarity agreement, the level of working capital managed in line with that of
the first six months of 2009 as well as the negotiation of the renewal of credit lines with the
banking system up to a level equivalent to Euro 15 million of financing expiring in October 2010.
Notwithstanding the various elements of uncertainty illustrated above, which could determine the
achievement of results significantly different from those indicated in the forecast, that are
significant for the evaluation of the going concern assumption, and could imply the reduction of
shareholders' equity as well as financial needs both different from those assumed in the forecast while there is an irrevocable commitment by Meridiana to support the Company up to a maximum
of Euro 20 million under the conditions and for the purposes indicated in paragraph 2.3.2,
"Commitments taken on by the shareholder Meridiana to ensure going concern" - the Directors
consider appropriate the going concern assumption, although they state that there are material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubts on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
Moreover the failure to achieve taxable income in future years at least equal to those indicated in
the New Business Plan, could determine the Company's inability to recover the deferred tax asset
amounting to Euro 10,245 thousand recognized in the condensed half-yearly financial statements
as of June 30, 2009, with the consequent further reduction of shareholders' equity.
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In this uncertain scenario, the appropriateness of the going concern assumption comes from the
consideration that the commitment taken on by the shareholder Meridiana ensure the Company's
recapitalisation for an amount greater than the total losses expected as of December 31, 2010
and is suitable for financing operations regardless of the positive outcome from the negotiations
with the banking system for the renewal of the credit lines as well as the sale of the building. As it
is not likely that the banking system would stop supporting the Company as the Shareholders
grantes financial support too and the successful completion of the sale of the building is possible,
it should not be excluded therefore that further funds could be found to support possible new
requirements deriving from the uncertainty not predicted in the New Business Plan. A further
element supporting the going concern assumption is the prudence used for the predictions related
to the trend of the above mentioned variables out of the control of the Company, that is aligned to
the best information available on the market and, with reference to the management of the net
working capital and the collection of receivables, is aligned to the conditions already tested and
that can be reasonably expected.
As a consequence, as of today the Directors take the commitment to call a Shareholders’
extraordinary meeting by the end of the year in order to grant the necessary level of net equity
through capital increase operations..
As mentioned in the previous paragraph 2.3.1, "Review of the 2009 budget and business plan",
the achievement of the strategies set out in the New Business Plan periods subsequent to 2010
may not be significant for the Company if in the coming months the feasibility studies are
concluded positively for the integration of the air transport operations between Meridiana and
Eurofly. The Directors will be informing the market in the prescribed manner of the progress of
these studies and their impact on future strategies.

2.5. Main risks and uncertainties concerning the current year
In conduction its business, the Company is exposed to risks and uncertainties stemming from
external factors relating to the general macroeconomic environment or sector-specific factors, as
well as risks deriving from strategic decisions and internal management risks. In particular, the
main risks identified concern the progress of the general economic framework, risks from
dependence on uncontrollable external variables, competition risk and financial management risk.
For an analysis of these risks please refer to the Management Report of the financial statements
as at 31 December 2008.
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The following is a summary illustration of the key risks that the Company could be exposed to in
the coming months.

Risks relating to changes in the general economic scenario
Air transport, both in the business and leisure segment, is correlated with the overall economic
scenario. After the acceleration of the difficulties in the early months of 2009, expectations of the
progress of the economic framework in the second six months of the year remain negative.
Confirmation of these predictions could influence Eurofly activities by bringing about a reduction
of output and therefore revenue. This, together with the prevalence of fixed costs over variable
costs in the Company's structure, would bring about pressure on margins and business
profitability.

Risks dependent on external variables
The Company is exposed to external variables. In particular the cost of fuel represents a very
significant element of business expenses. In spite of fuel price levels still being significantly lower
than 2008, the cost of fuel has shown a rising trend during the first six months of 2009, which if it
continues would have an influence on the results of the remaining part of the year. The first half of
2009 also featured the Euro strengthening against the American Dollar. If this trend were to be
reversed, as many operating costs are in the US currency, this could give rise to higher costs and
therefore reduced profitability. Please note however that charter contracts entered into by the
Company with tour operators envisage the possibility of partially adjusting the agreed prices in
function of the fuel cost and the Euro/USD exchange rate, as described in more detail in the
Management Report of the financial statements as at 31 December 2008.

Risk relating to competition
In the current economic crisis scenario and associated lower consumer spending, competition in
the air transport sector is becoming more fierce. The airline companies are seeking to protect
their passenger volumes via the reduction of prices. Should the negative predictions of the
progress of operations for the second part of the year be realised, this could be reflected in further
pressure on prices and consequently on margins.

Risk relating to financial position management
The Company has a financial position featuring much higher current than long-term financial
exposure. This combined with the pressure on profitability, together with negative net working
capital and a significant amount of overdue payables, could give rise to financial tension.
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Moreover, in consideration of the effect that the crisis has had on the package holiday industry
and the specific difficulties of certain trade counterparties (tour operators, financial intermediaries
that manage credit card payments, etc) it is easy to imagine a situation where Eurofly's trade
receivables become overdue or unlikely to be settled.

2.6. Performance of associate companies

Eurofly does not control any companies pursuant to article 93 of the Consolidated Finance Act.

Eurofly owns shareholdings in associate companies, represented by 50% of the share capital of
Wokita Srl and Sameitaly Srl contributed by Meridiana as part of the capital increase in kind
completed in March 2008 and by a 49% equity interest in EF USA Inc.
Although they are 50% owned by Eurofly, pursuant to Article 25 of Italian Legislative Decree 127,
9 April 1991 Wokita and Sameitaly, are considered to be subsidiaries of Meridiana SpA for the
purposes of the preparation of the latter’s consolidated financial statement.

Sameitaly, founded at the end of September 2007, provides the role of General sales agent
throughout Italy for Meridiana, Eurofly and the tour operator Wokita, for travel businesses, entities
and agencies with the objective of creating strong synergies across the group and optimising
commercial distribution costs.

Wokita, founded in February 2006 to promote the development of the tour operating business via
the Internet for the Meridiana group, creates and markets tourism packages and sells individual
services direct to the end consumer via its web portal. Wokita's business model is primarily as an
online tour operator and secondarily as an online travel agency. The strategy is based on the
direct sale of holiday packages and individual services via its portal. Eurofly currently has trade
relationships with Wokita for the sale of tickets and packages online.

EF USA Inc, founded in March 2008, is a company with an exclusive representation agreement,
51% owned by GCVA Inc. (a company not associated with Eurofly) and 49% owned by Eurofly,
providing the sale of scheduled Eurofly tickets in the North American market for flights to Italy. EF
USA operations consist of handling sales and providing customer care services on behalf of
Eurofly in the North American territory, drawing an income through sales commissions. Based on
agreements between the shareholders, members of Eurofly Management have a presence on the
EF USA Board of Directors.
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As regards the performance of equity investments for the six-month period, the current negative
economic scenario has given rise to a general fall in sales both of holiday and business flights
(falls at the industry level between 20 and 30% in comparison with the same period of 2008). In
this general negative context, the Sameitaly results are also lower than expected. Specifically, the
typical revenues from the operation amount to Euro 1,807 thousand (-22% in comparison with the
first six months of 2008). Sameitaly are putting into effect all the appropriate commercial
measures, by means of both the expansion of the client base and specific discounting and loyalty
policies in agreement with the carriers. It is considered that these corrective actions will bring
about improvements to the expected results such as to reduce the discrepancies by a limited
amount in comparison with forecasts. For similar reasons Wokita has reported performance lower
than expected in the first six months of 2009, including as a result of the fiercer competition by
companies with advanced structures and marketing. Total gross revenues from operations carried
out in the half-year were Euro 4,209 thousand (around -26% in comparison with the first half of
2008). In each case Wokita continued to invest in the development of the technological Web
platform and increase trade coordination with the other companies of the Group according to the
provisions of the Business Plan. In consideration of these latter development operations and the
marked seasonality (the greater revenue is expected in the second half-year) it is considered that
the discrepancies can be reduced within a range of limited variance in comparison with the
Business Plan. In the light of what has been illustrated it is not considered that impairment
indicators are necessary at this time.

The lower than expected performance of EF USA was taken into consideration in the assessment
of the recoverability of the value of the stake.

2.7. Human Resources
As illustrated in the table below, a comparison between the average weight of salaries in the first
half of 2009 and the same period of 2008 shows general stability in the Company's body of
personnel. The main variance should be noted however in the ground-based personnel and not
aircrew. More specifically, it should be noted that aircrew have decreased because of the
reduction of the long-haul fleet, while ground crew has increased because of the need to reinforce
certain functions and to run previously outsourced activities directly.
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In March 2009 the Solidarity agreement terminated for all categories of personnel.
With a letter dated 20 April 2009 sent to the unions and the professional associations, two
separate personnel restructuring procedures were initiated by the company for the reduction of
the workforce (articles 4 and 24 of Law no. 223, 23 July 1991) for flight crew (43 employees) and
cabin crew (125 employees). On 20 July 2009 an accord was entered into for the extension of the
agreement for the cabin crew until 31 December 2014.

2.8. Company locations
Eurofly has its registered offices in Milan, via Ettore Bugatti, 15. The company also has secondary
offices in New York (USA) at JFK airport and New Delhi, India. The latter office is no longer
operational because of the suspension, in September 2007, of the Rome-New Delhi route
operated during 2007.

2.9. Research and development activities

Through the nature of the operations carried out, the Company has not carried out any research
and development in the strictest sense.

2.10.

Macroeconomic picture

In the first part of the half-year period, the price of oil continued on its downward trend from the end
of 2008, before then increasing slightly in the second quarter. The values recorded however
remain lower than those of 2008. On average in the first half of 2009 the price of oil was around
half that of 2008.
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During the course of the first half of 2009 the Dollar weakened against the Euro. In spite of this,
the Euro/Dollar exchange rate for the period was on average lower than in the first half of 2008.
Between the end of December 2008 and the end of June 2009 the exchange rate remained
largely stable at around 1.40.

Interest rates, both in terms of average values in the first halves of 2009 and 2008 and spot rates
in June 2009 and December 2008 recorded significant falls, as a result of the monetary policies put
into effect by the central banks in order to tackle the economic crisis.

2.11.

Industry scenario

The graph below illustrates the number of passengers transported worldwide and shows that all
months of the first half of 2009 were down from the corresponding months of the first half of the
previous year. In total the half-year period saw a fall of 7.6% in the number of passengers
transported in comparison with the first six months of 2008. The recorded load factor was lower at
76% throughout the half-year period, falling below the 70% seen in February.
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Similar figures can also be seen by analysing traffic in the main Italian airports. Assareoporti
statistics in fact show a 7.7% fall in passengers from the first half of 2008 to the first half of 2009.
The reduction was more noticeable in the first months of the half-year (more than 10% fall in the
first quarter of 2009) and less in the second quarter (-3%).
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2.12.

Management and co-ordination and related party transactions

Eurofly is subject to management and co-ordination of Meridiana which, following the capital
increase resolved by the Shareholders' Meeting of 10 September 2008 and concluded in January
2009, increased its stock to 60.73%, and then reduced it by selling shares to 59.58%.
Operations carried out by Eurofly SpA with related parties primarily concerned the provision of
services and, to a lesser extent, financial transactions with the parent Meridiana, with associated
companies (Sameitaly Srl, Wokita Srl and EF USA Inc) and with the other companies forming part
of the Meridiana Group.
These operations, completed at market conditions, fall within the ordinary management of the
Company, and are not atypical or unusual and were carried out in the interest of the Company
and the Group to which it belongs.
For greater detail on dealings with related parties please refer to the Explanatory Notes to the
condensed half-year financial statements as at 30 June 2009 (ref. paragraph 4.10).
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2.13.

Other information

As at the date of this half-yearly Financial Report there are no shareholders holding stock greater
than 2% of the Capital with the exception of the parent company Meridiana, which directly holds
59.58% of the Eurofly share capital.

No atypical or unusual operations or transactions were put into effect.

During the course of the half-year period no transactions, neither directly nor indirectly,
for the purchase or sale of the Company's own shares were put into effect. As at 30 June 2009
the Company does not hold treasury shares. During the period holdings in unlisted companies
greater than 10% of the voting rights remained unchanged and as at 30 June 2009 can be
summarised in the following table.

The condensed half-yearly financial statements were subject to limited auditing by the Auditing
Firm Deloitte & Touche.

Milan, 28 August 2009

For the Board of Directors

The Chairman

Marco Rigotti
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3. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.1. Balance sheet

Translated from the original version in Italian
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3.2. Comprehensive Income Statement
The comprehensive income statement for the first half of 2009 is provided below, with a
comparison with the same period of 2008.

Translated from the original version in Italian

Please refer to paragraph 4.1 for the reasons the addition of the actuarial evaluations necessary
for the determination of the employee benefit fund as at 30 June in application of IAS 19 was not
considered influential.
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Below is the comprehensive income statement for the second quarter of 2009, compared with the
same period of 2008. Please note that the income statements of the second quarters of 2008 and
2009 were not subject to auditing.

Translated from the original version in Italian
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3.3. Statement of changes in equity

Translated from the original version in Italian
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3.4. Cash flow statement

Translated from the original version in Italian
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4. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4.1. Accounting standards and valuation criteria
The condensed half-yearly financial statements as at 30 June 2009 have been prepared pursuant
to article 154-ter of the TUF as updated by Legislative Decree no. 195, 6 November 2007,
enacting Directive 2004/109/EC (also referred to as the "Transparency Directive") and for the
purposes of providing information on the Company's profit/loss, and financial position. The
statements were prepared in application of the IAS/IFRS International accounting standards and
accounting standard IAS 34 in particular. Therefore all information and the notes of the individual
balance sheet have not been reported and therefore these condensed half-yearly financial
statements must be read together with the individual financial statements as at 31 December
2008.
The condensed half-yearly financial statements are presented in thousands of Euro (unless
expressly indicated otherwise) and comprise the Balance Sheet and the Comprehensive Income
Statement, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Cash Flow Statement and these Explanatory
Notes.
Please refer to the IAS/IFRS International accounting standards and valuation criteria adopted in
the preparation of the individual financial statements as at 31 December 2008 for which the same
standards and criteria were applied.

It should therefore be pointed out that the preparation of the condensed half-yearly financial
statements required estimates and assumptions by the Directors that have a bearing on the
values of the revenues, costs, assets and liabilities and the related information and potential
assets and liabilities as at the date of reference. If in the future these estimates and assumptions,
which are based on the best valuation possible by the Directors, are caused to vary by
circumstances, they will be modified in an appropriate way for the period in which those
circumstances change.
Below is a summary of the key valuation processes and assumptions used by the management in
the application of the accounting standards, which may have significant effects on the values in
the condensed half-yearly financial statements or for which there is the risk that adjustments to
the book value of the assets and liabilities may emerge in the subsequent period.
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Bad-debt provision
The bad debt provision reflects the Management's estimate of losses arising from the portfolio of
accounts receivable from end customers.
The estimate for the bad debt provision is based on the losses expected by the Company,
determined based on past experience for similar accounts, current and ageing receivables, losses
and drawings, careful monitoring of credit quality and market and economic projections, with
support from the opinions of legal consultants of the Company during pre-litigious and litigious
phases. Please refer in particular to paragraph 4.3. "Note 9 - Trade and other receivables" of
these explanatory notes for the considerations on the key cases of litigation in progress for credit
recovery.

Recoverable value of non-current assets
The non-current assets include buildings, plant and machinery and other intangible assets
including equity investments. The Management periodically reviews the book value of the noncurrent assets held and used and those assets that are to be disposed of, when circumstances
require. This activity is carried out using estimates for anticipated cash flows and adjusted
discount rates to calculate the current value and is therefore based on a collection of hypothetical
assumptions relative to future events made by the Company's corporate bodies, which may not
necessarily occur in the predicted times. In particular, as indicated in paragraph 2.4. "Outlook on
operations", the predicted profitability of the Company and of its associated companies is
influenced by the outcome of variables that are not controllable by the Company itself. These
could include the trend in the Euro/Dollar exchange rate and interest rates, the cost of aircraft
fuel, the passenger load factor rates, the average revenue per passenger and the revenue per
charter hour flown. Equally, other assumptions relating to the short-term financial equilibrium (ref.
paragraph 2.3.1) are also outside of the Company's control, such as the successful conclusion of
the sale of the building, the drawing of the Solidarity agreement credits within 12 months, the
management of the working capital in line with the first half of 2009 and the negotiation with the
banks for the renewal of the credit lines up to a level equivalent to Euro 15 million of financing,
which is expiring in October 2010. The failure to achieve results in line with those of the New
Business Plan (drawn up on a standalone basis in particular without assuming any integration
with Meridiana), could imply the inability of the Company to recover its assets at values
corresponding to those recorded in the condensed half-yearly financial statements as at 30 June
2009.
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Prepaid tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
The Company has reported on current and deferred/prepaid taxes pursuant to current legislation.
The entry of taxes requires the use of estimates and assumptions concerning the methods with
which to interpret, in relation to operations carried out during the course of the period, the
applicable regulations and their effect on the company's tax situation. Moreover, the reporting of
prepaid/deferred taxes requires the use of estimates of future taxable income and its progress as
well as the tax rates effectively applicable. These activities are carried out via analysis of the
transactions carried out and their tax status, including with the support, where necessary, of
external consultants for the various issues tackled and by modelling the anticipated revenue
streams and analysing their sensitivity. In particular, the recoverability of deferred taxes as at 30
June 2009, partly associated with the use of the tax losses that can be carried forward to future
periods, depends on the achievement of a future taxable income in line with the profitability
envisaged in the New Business Plan (drawn up on a standalone basis in particular without
assuming any integration with Meridiana). The failure to achieve future taxable income at least
equal to that indicated in the New Business Plan could determine the Company's inability to
realize the deferred taxes recorded in the condensed half-yearly financial statements as at 30
June 2009 for Euro 10,245 thousand in total.

Potential liabilities
The Company is subject to legal and tax cases that can derive from difficult and complex
problems, which carry a different level of uncertainty, including circumstances specific to each
case, the jurisdiction and the different applicable laws.
In consideration of the uncertainties inherent in these problems, it is difficult to predict with any
certainty the outcome of these disputes.
Consequently the Management, on the advice of their legal and tax experts and consultants, have
determined a liability for these actions when a financial payout is considered likely and when the
amount of such a payout can be reasonably estimated. In the case of a financial payout becoming
possible without being able to determine the amount, this is reported in the explanatory notes to
the condensed half-yearly financial statements.

Please note moreover that these evaluation processes, in particular the more complex ones such
as the determination of any losses of the value of non-current assets, are generally only done
comprehensively on the drafting of the annual financial statements, and when all information
necessary is available. This excludes the cases in which there are impairment indicators that
require an immediate valuation of any losses of value. Similarly, the actuarial valuations
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necessary for the valuation of employee benefit funds are normally carried out in the preparation
of the annual financial statements.

The condensed half-yearly financial statements, while presenting information and set of financial
figures suitable for comparison, do not include all the information that is required by the annual
financial statements. The condensed half-yearly financial statements were subject to limited
review audit procedures by the Independent Auditing Firm Deloitte & Touche.

Please refer to paragraph 2.4 "Outlook on operations" of this Half-Yearly Financial Report for a
more detailed analysis of the reasons based on which the Directors, althought there are material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubts on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, concluded that the Company operates as going concern and, consequently, prepare the
condensed half-yearly financial statements applying valuation criteria consistent with the goingconcern assumption.

Below is an illustration of the new accounting standards, amendments and interpretations
applicable from 1 January 2009. They include from this date the accounting standards used in the
drawing up of the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2008.
The revised IAS 1 prohibits the reporting of income components such as earnings and charges
(defined "changes generated by transactions with non-shareholders") in the Statement of
changes of Equity, requiring them to be indicated separately to changes generated by
transactions with shareholders.
In fact, according to the revised version of IAS 1, all changes generated by transactions with nonshareholders must be reported in their own separate statement that illustrates the trend for the
period (a comprehensive statement of gains and losses) or in two separate statements (income
statement and comprehensive statement of gains and losses). Consequently the Company
modified the presentation of the Income Statement, calling it the "Comprehensive Income
Statement" in which it also identified the "Profit (Loss) for the period", the "Comprehensive Profit
(Loss) for the period" which also includes the comprehensive profits and losses which, in the
specific case, are represented solely by the adjustment of actuarial gains and losses determined
by the application of IAS 19. As previously indicated, as at 30 June 2009 this adjustment was not
the subject of specific actuarial calculation, in consideration of its minor significance and
consequently, the "Profit (Loss) for the period" and the "Comprehensive Profit (Loss) for the
period" are the same.
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The other IAS/IFRS standards subject to review and applicable from 1 January 2009 have not
had an outcome on the presentation of the half-yearly financial report or on the valuation of
capital, borrowing and profit/loss values.
In particular accounting standard IFRS 8 - Operating Segments, applicable from 1 January 2009,
in replacement of IAS 14 - Segment reporting, has had no effect from the point of view of the
values of the balance sheet items nor in the segment information provided by the Company in the
financial statements, these being segments of operation identified for the purposes of IAS 14
corresponding to the definitions of segments envisaged by IFRS 8 (medium-haul/long-haul).
The revised version of IAS 23 provides that borrowing charges are directly attributable to the
acquisition, on the construction of an asset which justifies capitalisation, and form part of the cost
of the asset itself. The option is no longer valid that allowed charging borrowing costs sustained
under investment in capitalised assets directly to the income statement. There have been no
accounting effects in the first half of 2009 as a result of the adoption of the standard.
Below follows an illustration of the accounting standards, amendments and interpretations not yet
applicable and not adopted by the Company in advance.
•

On 10 January 2008 the IASB issued an updated version of IFRS 3 - Business
combinations, and issued IAS 27 - Consolidated and separate financial statements. The
key amendments applied to IFRS concern the elimination of the obligation to value the
individual assets and liabilities of the subsidiary at fair value in any subsequent
acquisition, in the case of partial acquisition of subsidiary companies. However in the
amendment to IAS 27, the IASB set out that changes to the level of holding that do not
form loss of control of the entity must be treated as an equity transaction and therefore
must be reported as such. Moreover it is set out that when a parent company transfers its
control of a subsidiary but continues to hold an interest in the entity, it must value the
retained stockholding at fair value and any gains or losses deriving from the loss of control
to the income statement. Lastly, the amendment to IAS 27 requires that all losses
attributable to minority equity investments be allocated to third-party interests, including
when they exceed the stock of the capital held in the subsidiary. The new provisions must
be applied from 1 January 2010.

The IASB issued a collection of "improvement" amendments to the IFRS. The following are those
indicated by the IASB as changes that will bring about a change in the presentation, recognition
and valuation of balance sheet items, omitting those that give rise only to changes in terminology
and have minimal accounting effects, or those that have an effect on the standards on the
interpretations that are not applicable to Eurofly:
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•

IFRS 5 - Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations: The amendment
must be applied from January 2010.

•

IAS 17 – Leases: Following the modifications the general provisions of IAS 17 will also
apply to leased land for the classification of the contract as a finance or operating lease
regardless of whether the lessee obtains ownership at the end of the term. Prior to the
amendments, the accounting standard prescribed that if ownership of the land subject to
the lease was not transferred at the end of the term of the contract, it was classified as an
operating lease as the asset had an indefinite useful life. The amendment is applicable
from 1 January 2010. At that date all land subject to existing leasing contracts that have
not expired will be valued separately, with any retrospective recognition of new leasing
accounted as a finance lease.

4.2. Financial statement comparability and business seasonality

The demand for air transport, especially in the leisure/holiday segment, features significant
seasonality. As regards Eurofly, operations are more concentrated in the third quarter of the year
and are more limited in the second and fourth quarter, with the exception of the time around special
holidays (Christmas/New Year, Easter and long weekends). In the first quarter, medium-haul
operations are lower in comparison with the other months of the year, while exotic and tropical
long-haul leisure destinations are particularly sought after.

4.3. Analysis of changes in the balance sheet
Non-current assets
As at 30 June 2009 non-current assets amounted to Euro 52,327 thousand, an increase of Euro
4,000 thousand over the Euro 48,327 thousand as at 31 December 2008.

Note 1. Tangible assets, for Euro 16,977 thousand, an increase from the Euro 13,065 thousand
at the end of December 2008, include the offices in Milan, the Company's registered and
administrative offices. Tangible assets recorded a net increase of Euro 3,911 thousand during the
period, of which: investment of Euro 5,194 thousand relates primarily to the revision of the
maintenance phase-out reserves (recognized as an increase in the value of the assets), the
purchase of aeronautical components, improvement interventions on the aircraft (including the
modernisation of the cabins), systems/furnishings/fittings and equipment for the refurbished base
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at Malpensa. Decreases for the period are represented primarily by the depreciation and
amortisation of Euro 1,283 thousand. Please refer in particular to paragraph 4.1. "Accounting
standards and valuation criteria" for the effects on the valuation of the recoverability of the book
values of the tangible assets deriving from the significant dependence of the forecast results in
the New Business Plan on uncontrollable variables.

Note 2. Intangible assets, amounting to Euro 1,859 thousand, have increased over the value of
31 December 2008 (Euro 1,354 thousand) following the investments of Euro 845 thousand made
during the period, which relate primarily to the costs for the acquisition of new aircraft that entered
the fleet during the six-month period, against amortisation allocated for a total of Euro 340
thousand. Please refer to paragraph 4.1. "Accounting standards and valuation criteria" for the
effects on the valuation of the recoverability of the book values of the intangible assets deriving
from the significant dependence of the forecast results in the New Business Plan on
uncontrollable variables.

Note 3. Financial assets amounts to Euro 9,404 thousand, an increase over the figure at the end
of 2008 of Euro 8,793 thousand. The increase derives primarily from the placing of new security
deposits with the lessors for the delivery of the new aircraft.
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Note 4. The Financial assets with parent company, Meridiana of Euro 2,972 thousand relate to
a security deposit for a pledge placed by the parent company to guarantee the issue by a bank of
a guarantee for operating lease contracts for aircraft entered into by Eurofly SpA. This deposit
has the same conditions as the pledge placed by the parent company with the bank. The change
over the end of 2008 concerns solely the change in exchange rates as the deposit is in Dollars.

Note 5. The Other receivables amount to Euro 2,870 thousand and refer to the portion of the
non-current receivables due from Airbus for the purchase of aeronautical goods and services
arising from the termination of the contract for the acquisition of three A350 long-haul aircraft. The
reduction from the value of Euro 3,155 thousand at the end of 2008 arises from the utilisation of
that credit.

Note 6. Deferred tax assets amount to Euro 10,245 thousand, a fall from the figure at December
2008 (Euro 10,941 thousand) primarily through the effect of the recovery of funds and charges
temporarily taxed and the review of the deferred tax assets on the taxable losses recoverable
under the New Business Plan.
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In particular the deferred tax assets include the tax benefits associated with the recovery of the
tax losses incurred in fiscal years 2006, 2007, 2008 and in the first half of 2009 for an amount of
Euro 8,827 thousand, corresponding to tax losses of Euro 32,099 thousand compared with future
taxable incomes for a total amount of Euro 39.5 million in the period in which such fiscal benefit
can be carried forward, in order to take into consideration, through a prudent adjustment of the
total of the benefits that could be recognized, the risk associated with the high exposure of the
future incomes to uncontrollable variables, particularly the cost of jet fuel and the
interest/exchange rates compared with the values assumed. Please refer to paragraph 4.1.
"Accounting standards and valuation criteria" for the effects on the valuation of the deferred tax
assets, in case of not realising of the taxable incomes assumed in the New Business Plan.
Please note that the total amount of tax losses that can be carried forward in those periods would
amount to around Euro 84 million.

Note 7. The item Equity investments, amounting to Euro 8 million, relates to the 50% equity
interests in the companies Wokita Srl and Sameitaly Srl, contributed by Meridiana at Euro 2,925
thousand and Euro 5,075 thousand respectively, as part of the capital increase in kind executed
during the first quarter of 2008. The contribution, coming within the scope of those definable as
“under common control”, was recognised at fair value in consideration of the additional flows of
cash over those prior to the operations, stemming from synergies developed between the
Company and its associates companies.
The associates’ business performance Wokita Srl and Sameitaly Srl during the course of the first
half of 2009 illustrated in paragraph 2.6 above, and the business plans approved by the Wokita
and Sameitaly Board of Directors during the first quarter of 2009 - in spite of realising lower
revenues than expected as a consequence of the difficult market and economic scenario - still
bear out the book values of the associates in the condensed half-yearly financial statements as at
30 June 2009, based on the considerations put into effect in paragraph 2.6. As already stated
earlier, performance deviating from expectations by the investee companies, whose profitability is
influenced by the same uncertainties in macroeconomic scenario as those to which the Company
is subject, could cause recognition of impairment of these equity investments, which is not
envisaged today.
In light of the results achieved and the corrective actions currently in effect it is considered that
the predictions of the business plan for the equity investments and consequently their reported
values can be confirmed.

47

The Directors will systematically monitor the companies' operational performance in order to
detect any permanent discrepancies of the figures from those used in the plan for the conferment
transaction. This will at the same time ensure adequate levels of capitalisation as prescribed by
the provisions of the civil code.

Eurofly also owns a 49% equity interest in the US corporation EF USA Inc, which operates and
directs sales and customer care services on behalf of Eurofly, on an exclusive basis in North
America.

Current assets
As at 30 June 2009 current assets amounted to Euro 76,326 thousand, a decrease of Euro
15,406 thousand from the Euro 91,732 thousand as at 31 December 2008.

Note 8. Inventories amounting to Euro 3,711 thousand are up from the value of Euro 3,216
thousand of 31 December 2008 and primarily are consumable aeronautical materials.

Note 9. Trade and other receivables, amounting to Euro 57,024 thousand (net of provision for
doubtful receivables of Euro 12,383 thousand), are down from the Euro 59,225 thousand of 31
December 2008 (net of provision for doubtful receivables of Euro 11,302 thousand). Against the
reduction of customer receivables by around Euro 7.6 million associated with seasonality and prebilling times, there is an increase by Euro 1,999 thousand of Contributory credits through the
personnel solidarity agreement which at 30 June 2009 amounted to Euro 8,347 thousand.

The following key disputes with customers are currently in progress:

• Arbitrations proceedings vs. Teorema Tour SpA., regarding Eurofly’s receivable vis-à-vis
Teorema Tour SpA of some Euro 3 million and USD 3 million, as well as penalties of Euro 14.7
million for flight cancellations (the latter are not recognised in the balance sheet). Teorema Tour
SpA has challenged Eurofly’s demands and in return has claimed a receivable of some Euro 1.2
million.
On 20 May 2008 the arbitrators issued a partial ruling recognising Teorema Tour SpA’s debt as
regards the penalties, but at the same time reserving the right to decide on their amount.
The Panel made use of specialist advice therefore a Judge's Technical Assistant and Expert
Witnesses were appointed. With an order dated 29 May 2009, the Arbitration Panel extended the
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term for the expert witness' submission to 24 July 2009 and assigned the parties the term of 10
September 2009 for their observations on the report.
Please note that during the course of 2007/2008 the Teorema Tour SpA Shareholders' meeting
resolved to merge the company by incorporation into the company Essevi Srl and conferred its
business to a new company, Teorema Srl then Teorema Sas.
During July 2009 a bankruptcy petition was presented against Teorema Sas. The appropriate
actions pursuant to Eurofly's protection are being assessed.
In order to secure its rights to the receivables, Eurofly opened various legal actions during the
year, first of all at the Court of Milan to preserve/reform Teorema's equity, in particular:
−

On 24 September 2007 a writ of summons was served against Teorema SpA, BNP
Paribas Lease Group SpA (Locafit) and Esse Real Estate Srl to achieve a declaration of
inefficacy of the sale of a building, formerly owned by Teorema Tour SpA, to Locafit, and
simultaneous financial leasing of the same by Locafit to Esse Real Estate Srl The next
hearing is on 22 September 2009 in order to make a further attempt at conciliation;

−

On 10 June 2008 a writ of summons was served aimed at nullifying or, on secondary
basis, revoke the suretyship given by Teorema Tour SpA to BNP Paribas Lease Group
SpA (Locafit) as a security of the finance leasing contract with Esse Real Estate Srl. The
next hearing is on 29 September 2009;

−

On 31 July 2008 a writ of summons was served to oppose the merger of Teorema Tour
SpA and Essevi Srl. The Court, in the hearing of 5 March 2009, rejected Eurofly's
applications ordering it to pay court costs.

• Arbitration proceedings with MG Viaggi Srl opened in 2006 by Eurofly for the recovery of a debt
of around Euro 2 million. With a judgement dated 26 November 2008 the Arbitration Panel
ordered MG Viaggi to pay Eurofly the total amount of Euro 1.1 million plus 75% of the procedural
costs (currently 1.3 million in total). Executive procedures are currently underway for the recovery
of the debt. MG Viaggi Srl went into voluntary liquidation on 23 June 2009 and therefore Eurofly is
assessing further actions to be entered into to protect its interests. In April 2009 a second
arbitration procedure was opened for the recovery of Euro 763 thousand (relating to a contract
dated 2001), plus interest relating to fines for non-fulfilment by MG Viaggi.

• Petition against the Italian Defence Ministry concerning the commercial relationships – which
started in July 2004 and ended in June 2006 – in relation to which differences emerged
concerning interpretation of contractual clauses, the effects of which on Eurofly’s credit position
amount to about Euro 4.2 million.
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For part of the above mentioned amount (around Euro 1.1 million), on 5 October 2007 Eurofly
filled a petition for a first injunction which the Ministry of Defence opposed. With an order dated 17
February 2009 the judge appointed a Technical Assistant, which initiated on 15 July 2009. The
case was adjourned to the hearing of 16 December 2009 for a discussion with the Technical
Assistant. For the remaining amount (around Euro 3.1 million), on 26 November 2007 UniCredit
Factoring SpA - to which Eurofly transferred part of the debts owed to it by the Ministry under a
factoring agreement dated 11 July 2005 - submitted a second application for an injunction on
which the Court of Rome issued the relative decree on 22 January 2008. The Judge is deciding
whether to appoint a Technical Assistant and adjourned the case to 3 March 2010, to examine
the two cases separately.

• Petition against the tour operator Maxitraveland SpA concerning Eurofly’s receivable vis-a- vis
the same of around Euro 5.5 million (for aircraft rentals and contractual penalties). Between June
and July 2008 the Company served a writ based on disputed bank draft for the amount of Euro
78.3 thousand and the submission of two applications for an order for Euro 4,130 thousand
(based on invoices issued) and Euro 1,250 thousand (based on bank drafts). In September 2008
the Court of Milan issued the injunctions Eurofly applied for against Maxitraveland SpA granting
provisional execution for the amount supported by drafts in the amount of Euro 1,250 thousand.
Lastly on 15 October 2008 the judge declared Maxitraveland bankrupt. Eurofly submitted an
application for recognition as a creditor, which was upheld in the amount of an unsecured Euro
2,977 thousand. On 27 March 2009 Eurofly submitted its opposition to the debt. The hearing for
the examination of this opposition was set on 30 September 2009.

For the purposes of completeness of information there is the following litigation against other
counterparties:

• Litigation with financial intermediaries for credit card sales in the USA, relating to Eurofly’s
receivable of USD 2.2 mn vis-à-vis financial intermediaries appointed to process sales via credit
cards in the USA.
In the month of September 2007 the Company served a writ of summons against FIB/USBC/BOA
and Mr Carl Smith, participating in the case opened during 2006 by FIB against USBC. The
investigatory phase of the case is currently in progress.
In the month of September 2008 part of the above amount was recovered from the current
account of Mr Carl Smith held at Affinity Bank in California (the bank into which he transferred the
amounts drawn from BOA), in the amount of around USD 263 thousand.
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• Arbitration proceedings with AIR COMET, relating to Eurofly’s receivables vis-à-vis the same of
USD 2.8 mn and Euro 580 thousand as per the lease contract signed by the parties on 26 March
2007. The arbitration procedure for the recovery of the amount was opened initially by Eurofly at
the International Chamber of Commerce in London in August 2008. At the hearing of 2 July 2009
for the reading of Eurofly's applications, the arbitration panel deferred their order to September
2009.

• Litigation with the company Aertre - Aeroporto di Treviso S.p.A., relating to the damage caused
on 6 August 2002. on 25 July 2008 the Venice courts handed down a judgement condemning
Aertre and the Italian Defence Ministry jointly and severally to pay Eurofly damages for Euro
1,290 thousand. In relation to this judgement, on 3 October 2008 Aertre paid Eurofly the amount
of Euro 685 thousand and on 15 June 2009 the additional amount of Euro 741 thousand on
behalf of the Ministry. In October 2008 the Ministry of Defence served an appeal against the
judgement of the Court of Venice. Eurofly, Aertre, Enac and Assicurazioni Generali entered into
proceedings. With the order dated 17 March 2009, the Judge rejected the application for the
temporary execution of the judgement applied for by the Ministry of Defence and adjourned the
hearing to 11 February 2015 for the illustration of the conclusions.

• Litigation with the airport operator SEA, concerning the fee in excess of the amounts decided by
the Malpensa Users’ Committee for use of centralised infrastructures. With a writ of summons
served on 17 June 2008, Eurofly entered into proceedings with Società Esercizi Aeroportuali
S.p.A. (SEA) before the Civil Court of Milan requesting the airport operator be ordered to pay 35%
of the amounts received between 2001 and 2006, the amount requested being Euro 1,938
thousand. At the hearing of 19 March 2009 the Judge granted the parties time to submit their
memorandums and adjourned the hearing to 27 October 2009 for the discussion of any
investigative applications. On 18 May 2009 the second memorandum was submitted with further
documentation to support our case.

Against the disputes illustrated above, the Directors consider that the provision for doubtful
receivables reported in the Half-Yearly Financial Report is an appropriate reflection of the
likelihood of not receiving the amounts owed by the counterparties.

Lastly we report the existence of guarantees issued by trade counterparties comprising down
payments of Euro 2,552 thousand and security guarantees of Euro 1,633 thousand.
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Note 10. The Trade receivables and other receivables with parent company amounting to
Euro 2,006 thousand are significantly lower than the Euro 5,657 thousand of 31 December 2008
through being the balance of open items. This item includes the amounts receivable from
Meridiana for sales of scheduled flights purchased from Eurofly, as well as ACMI rentals. These
amounts are settled at normal market conditions, as is illustrated in more detail below in
paragraph 4.10. "Relations with related parties".

Note 11. The item Other assets, for Euro 2,545 thousand is showing a reduction of Euro 7,914
thousand from the figure of Euro 10,459 thousand reported at the end of 2008 as a result of the
decrease in prepaid charges with particular reference to certain maintenance costs. This group of
assets includes costs or amounts of charges deferred to future periods based on accrual-based
accounting and relate primarily to maintenance, rental and insurance expenses.

Note 12. Cash and cash equivalents amount to Euro 11,040 thousand, which are down from the
figure of Euro 13,175 thousand at the end of December 2008, which was benefiting from the
revenues deriving from the portion of the capital increase completed in 2008.

Please refer to paragraphs 4.7.1 "Cash flow statement analysis" and 4.7.2 "Net financial position"
for an analysis of the flows of cash during the period.

Note 13. Equity amounted to Euro 28,438 thousand, thanks to the input from the share capital
increase. At the end of June it was reduced to Euro 7,596 as a result of the losses of the first half
of 2009 of 23,278 thousand, which was partially offset by the second phase of the latest capital
increase in January 2009, with an input of Euro 2,701 thousand. Accessory charges to the capital
increase were also capitalised, net of the relative deferred taxes, in the amount of Euro 267
thousand.

Non-current liabilities
Non-current liabilities as at 30 June 2009 amounted to Euro 11,622 thousand, an increase over
the Euro 9,903 reported as at 31 December 2008, as a result of the changes illustrated below.

Note 14. Long term borrowings stood at Euro 2,474 thousand and reflect the debt owed to
Banca Profilo for the mortgage loan. The figure is down by Euro 284 thousand through the effect
of the repayment of the half-yearly amount in January 2009. The loan was taken out in December
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2003 for an original amount of Euro 5 million for the purchase of the property that now holds the
company offices on via Ettore Bugatti, 15 in Milan. The debt is guaranteed by a first level
mortgage on the property at a value of Euro 10 million. The annual repayments of the loan are set
out below.

Note 15. Deferred tax liabilities amounted to Euro 251 thousand, which is in line with the figure
as at 31 December 2008. They include the amount accounted for taxes on severance indemnities
(TFR) calculated using the actuarial Projected Unit Credit Method.

Note 16. The long-term Provisions for risks and charges, comprising the severance indemnity
fund, provision for the aircraft maintenance phase-out and other aircraft maintenance reserves,
amount in total to Euro 8,897 thousand, an increase from the Euro 6,894 thousand of December
2008, largely through the increased estimates of the reserves which led to additional allocation in
the half-year period of Euro 2,261 thousand, offset against the tangible assets, which were
subject to the associated depreciation during the course of the operating leasing contracts on the
aircraft.

The reserves' composition is illustrated in the following table:

Current liabilities
As at 30 June 2009 current liabilities stood at Euro 109,435 thousand (compared with Euro
101,717 thousand as at 31 December 2008).
The changes in current liabilities can be analysed as follows.
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Note 17. Trade and other payables amounted to Euro 93,800 thousand. As illustrated in the
table below, the increase over the figure of December 2008 (Euro 91,719 thousand) is due
primarily to the increase of amounts payable to suppliers, which is only partially offset by the
reduction of accrued charges associated with pre-billed scheduled and charter flights to be
fulfilled following the closure of the accounting period.
This item's composition is illustrated in the following table.

The company is in litigation with the following suppliers for accounts payable:

• Legal dispute with the company ALITALIA, concerning ten curt payment orders in favour of
Alitalia issued in March-September 2007 by the Court of Rome and Milan for a total amount of
Euro 2.6 million.
As regards all the court payment orders served on, the Company has filled opposition to them
objecting to the groundlessness of such demand in the amounts calculated by the counterparty
and is counterclaiming that Alitalia be ordered to pay Eurofly SpA the total amount of Euro 2,259
thousand and Euro 5,000 thousand (compensation for violation of the right of first offer).
At the first hearings Eurofly requested a meeting of all cases. Following the Alitalia "bankruptcy"
proceedings, all cases were interrupted and only one resumed, for which the next hearing is for 5
November 2009.
With an order dated 9 May 2008 the judge granted provisional execution of Euro 252 thousand.
Negotiations are in progress relating to the payment method of this order.
Following the bankruptcy declaration of Alitalia SpA last year on 12 November 2008 an
application for recognition as a creditor was made to the Court of Rome, Bankruptcy Section for a
total amount of Euro 7,453 thousand. The hearing for the admission as a creditor, set for 16 June
2009, was adjourned for further examinations to the hearing of 16 December 2009.

• Legal dispute with the oil company ENI SpA. relating to the proceedings opened by ENI SpA
against various airlines, including Eurofly (for an amount of Euro 242 thousand) to obtain an order
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for the cited companies to pay ENI SpA the amounts arising from the fee for the concession that
the oil company is required to pay airport operators (so-called "fuel royalties"). On 20 April 2007,
Eurofly responded with a counterclaim, requesting the Court to reject all applications made by
ENI SpA and instead to order it to repay the fuel premiums it had received, as from 1997, for the
supply of fuel at the airport, in the amount of around Euro 3.5 million. At the hearing of 1 July
2009, the Judge ordered ENI to exhibit all accounting documentation detailing the charging of
premiums on the provision of fuel made from 1997 and adjourned the requested expert witness
report to the next hearing (set at 3 February 2010).

• Litigation with the oil company Exxonmobil Petroleum&Chemical Bvba relates to the writ of
summons served to Eurofly in May 2008 by the oil company, relating to fuel royalties in the
amount of approximately Euro 173 thousand. Eurofly appeared and responded with a
counterclaim, requesting that the Court reject all applications made by Exxonmobil and to order it
to repay the fuel premiums it had received, as from 1998, for the supply of fuel at the airport, in
the amount of around Euro 927 thousand. At the hearing of 22 April 2009 Eurofly submitted the
recent order no. 14/16/2009, given on the matter of "fuel royalties" by the State Council. The
Examining Magistrate adjourned the case for the admission of requested examinations to a
hearing of 24 March 2010 in which to provide his conclusions.

• Litigation with the catering company Servair Air Chef relates to the injunction served to Eurofly in
January 2008 for the recovery of an amount of approximately Euro 55 thousand for catering
royalties. Eurofly appeared and responded with a counterclaim, requesting that the Court reject all
applications made by Servair. The Examining Magistrate, in a hearing on 1 July 2009, rejected
the application made by Servair to overturn the rejection of their application for provisional
execution of the injunction and adjourned the case to 26 May 2010 for his conclusions.
We report that on 5 August 2009 Servair Air Chef, following Eurofly's withdrawal from the catering
agreement entered into in 2005, applied for the issue of an emergency order ex article 700 of the
Italian civil procedural code (cpc) aimed at declaring the withdrawal unlawful. In the hearing of 22
August 2009 the judge deferred the decision, then subsequently went back on the adjournment
and rejected the claim submitted by Servair.

As at 30 June 2009 injunctions are pending for a total amount of Euro 2.7 million, Euro 2.6 of
which concerns Alitalia and the remainder on four minor counterparties.
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With a letter dated 7 August 2009 a lessor (CIT Aerospace International) served a default notice
for the non-payment of two monthly fees relating to an A330 aircraft and relative maintenance
payments for a total of USD 1.8 million. The same lessor holds a security deposit of USD 4.1
million paid by Eurofly on entering into the agreement.

As regards the legal dispute mentioned above, and based on the opinion of the Company's legal
advisers and based on the intrinsic uncertainty of evaluation, explained above in more detail in
paragraph 4.1. "Accounting standards and valuation criteria", it is considered that the Company
should not fall into additional debts in addition to those already illustrated in the condensed halfyearly financial statements.

Note 18. Trade and other payables with parent company, Meridiana amount to Euro 5,775
thousand compared with the figure of Euro 2,483 thousand at the end of 2008 and comprise
amounts for various services provided by the parent, in particular maintenance, port handling and
consulting.

Note 19. The Bank debt amounting to Euro 7,100 thousand, has increased by Euro 2,774
thousand over the figure of Euro 4,326 thousand at the end of 2008 and primarily concerns
standby revolving cash finance granted by the banks, which is the subject of the covenants
described in paragraph 4.7.3 below.

Note 20. The Current portion of long-term borrowings, amounting to Euro 563 thousand
(against the Euro 533 thousand at the end of 2008) includes the short term amount of the
mortgage loan previously described in the notes relating to non-current liabilities.

Note 21. The Provisions for risks and charges, amounting to Euro 2,197 thousand, are down
by Euro 460 thousand from the Euro 2,657 thousand at the end of 2008 through the greater
utilisation during the half-year period. They primarily include the funds for the short term aircraft
maintenance phase-out, the legal and labour disputes including those with the passengers, the
charge for which was determined based on the best possible estimate in consideration of the past
experience of such disputes. Moreover the item includes the allocation to a fund for the hedging
of risk of the costs of reorganising long-haul operations.

Certain legal disputes are illustrated below:
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• Legal dispute with the tour operator Metafelix relating to the writ of summons served by the tour
operator on Eurofly for payment of some Euro 1.1 million for alleged non performance.
On 27 April 2009 the parties entered into an agreement for the amicable settlement of the case
for an all-inclusive amount of Euro 100 thousand.

• Legal dispute with MyAir airline concerns the writ of summons served on Eurofly on 18 April
2008 for an amount of Euro 500 thousand. At the first hearing of 15 January 2009 the judge
granted a term for the submission of memorandums and adjourned the hearing to 18 June 2009
for the judge to hear the parties' applications. With a hearing of 30 June 2009 to conclude the
applications, the judge did not admit the parties' evidence (testimony and expert witness' report)
and adjourned the hearing for further discussion to 8 April 2010.

• Legal dispute with the Corporate Aircraft company concerning the writ served by Corporate
Aircraft for an amount of approximately Euro 1 million. This payment is being requested for
mediation activities carried out with regard to the assigning of the finance leasing contract for the
A319 aircraft in June 2007.
The writ was served in November 2007. At the hearing of 10 March 2009 the case was adjourned
to 29 October 2009 for the taking of the depositions of witnesses.

• A partial tax audit, initiated in May 2006 with regard to corporation tax by the Regional Tax
Authorities of Lombardy for the years 2002-2003-2004. In detail the tax liabilities disputed were
Euro 0.6 million for the tax period 2002, Euro 2 million for the tax period 2003, Euro 1 million for
the tax period 2004. As regards the year 2002, the Company acceded and paid an amount in
taxes and fines of approximately Euro 10 thousand. As regards the 2003 tax year the Company
paid greater taxes (solely IRAP - regional corporation tax, through the effect of existing tax
losses), as well as fines and interest for a total of Euro 26 thousand.

• In August 2008 the US Customs and Border Agency notified the start of an audit of Eurofly’s tax
activities and fulfilment of related official obligations in North America in the period April 2004March 2008, in particular as regards users (i.e. passenger) fees and other local taxes. Eurofly
provided the requested information. At the end of January 2009 the final inspection statement
was signed with the amounts yet to be paid in terms of taxes on tickets sold for a total of USD 356
thousand, for which the Company allocated the appropriate provisions for fines and interest in the
2008 financial statements. Eurofly paid fines and interest in the amount of USD 68 thousand
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during the course of the second quarter of 2009, using the funds allocated during the previous
period.

4.4. Guarantees, commitments and other potential liabilities
As at 30 June 2009 Eurofly had provided security guarantees to third parties for a total amount of
Euro 11.4 million. These were utilised primarily as guarantees for aircraft leasing contracts and for
the financial intermediaries employed to process credit card payments. Please note that among
the guarantees illustrated above there is an assignment of USD 4.2 million from a banking
institution to guarantee operating lease contracts on aircraft, which is fully guaranteed by a pledge
of cash by the parent company Meridiana.
Furthermore we report that the real estate used as the company offices was mortgaged for Euro
10 million with Banca Profilo on acquiring the building.

Future commitments of leasing fees as provided by the relative contracts are illustrated below.

As described previously the Company is involved in litigation as both an applicant and a
respondent. The Directors consider that the provisions for risk allocated in the condensed halfyearly financial statements are adequate for the potential liabilities that can be estimated as at the
reference date of the report.
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4.5. Analysis of financial performance

Revenues
Note 23. The Revenue from sales and services amounts to Euro 143,065 thousand and shows
a fall of 12.2% over the Euro 162,968 thousand realised in the first half of 2008. The reduction
was brought about by lower volumes (in terms of hours flown and passengers) and the price
effect (lower margins associated with the cost of fuel) and was only partially offset by additional
revenues arising from the codesharing agreement with Lauda Livingston (which generated
additional cash of around Euro 9.7 million).

As previously illustrated, medium-haul operations were affected by lower capacities as a result of
the temporary reduction of the fleet and the temporary operation by Meridiana of certain flights in
Italy, previously operated by Eurofly. The long-haul revenue was sustained primarily by the
restoration of operations to Kenya and the initiation of flights to Senegal, as well as the earnings
deriving from the sale of seats for flights to the Indian Ocean/Africa deriving from the codesharing
agreement with Lauda Livingston.
The revenues from sales and services include sales to related parties amounting to Euro 933
thousand, entirely to Meridiana and primarily are ACMI earnings.

Note 24. The Other revenue primarily represents earnings from subleasing aircraft (Euro 2,064
thousand). During the half-year period these amounted to a total of Euro 3,036 thousand and fell
by 47.8% from the first half of 2008, when they were Euro 5,821 thousand and were primarily as a
result of the shorter duration of the sublease of the A330 aircraft (terminated in March 2009).
This item includes revenue for intercompany chargebacks of Euro 440 thousand, of which Euro
376 thousand is to the parent Meridiana.

Costs
Note 25. The Direct commercial expenses amounted to Euro 1,933 thousand, which is down
from the first half of 2008 (Euro 4,223 thousand) both in absolute value and in terms of incidence
on turnover, as a result of fewer scheduled operations.
The item also includes the costs deriving from dealings with related parties for Euro 883
thousand, of which Euro 446 thousand was payable to the parent Meridiana mainly for sales
commissions on scheduled flights.
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Note 26. The jet fuel cost, Euro 33,464 thousand, showed a fall of 44.9% over the first half of
2008 where it was Euro 60,695 thousand, an incidence on revenue of 23.4% (37.2% in the first
half of 2008). This trend is the result of the significant reduction of the cost of jet fuel per barrel
(ref. paragraph 2.10) as well as the reduced operations during the period.

Note 27. Staff costs amounted to Euro 20,160 thousand in comparison with the Euro 18,220
thousand of the first half of 2008 and shows a growth of 10.6% as a result of the lower
contributions deriving from the Solidarity agreement, which was terminated at the end of March
2009.

Note 28. Costs for Materials and maintenance services, of Euro 25,099 thousand grew 17.2%
over the first half of 2008 (when they were Euro 21,423 thousand). As well as the strengthening of
the Dollar, this cost increase was the result of the greater amount of engine maintenance as well
as the additional extraordinary maintenance costs for the release of the aircraft leaving the fleet
(phase-out) in the half year period. The item also includes the costs deriving from dealings with
the parent Meridiana of Euro 2,232 thousand for aircraft maintenance services.

Note 29. The Operating costs and wet lease costs, of Euro 49,863 thousand compared with
the figure of Euro 41,608 thousand in the first half of 2008. The increase of 19.8% can be
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attributed to the greater costs of wet leases through the purchase of seats on flights operated by
Lauda Livingston, as a result of the codesharing agreement on flights to the Caribbean (offset by
revenue from the sale of seats on flights to the Indian Ocean and Kenya).

This item also includes purchases by related parties amounting to Euro 282 thousand, of which
Euro 247 thousand is from the parent Meridiana, primarily through port handling operations and
ACMI amounts payable.

The fall of 7.3% in operating costs, primarily deriving from the reduced operations during the halfyear period, is illustrated below.

Note 30. Commercial and corporate costs, amounting to Euro 10,644 thousand, showed a
growth of 16.9% over the first half of 2008 (when they were Euro 9,105 thousand), and were for
greater use of consulting services, publicity and other minor services.
They include the costs for services provided by Meridiana of Euro 1,662 thousand, primarily for
consulting and other central services provided by the parent.

Note 31. Operating rentals, which amounts to Euro 22,751 thousand, has increased by Euro
1,794 thousand from the figure of Euro 20,957 thousand of the first half of 2008. The detail by
Business Unit is provided below:
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The cost of operating leases on medium-haul increased by Euro 129 thousand (+1.5%), while for
long-haul, the costs of operating leases grew by Euro 1,664 thousand (+13.5%) in comparison
with the first half of 2008, as a result of a strengthening of the Dollar against the Euro.

Note 32. Depreciation, amortisation, other provisions and provisions for risks and charges
amount to Euro 4,075 thousand and are down from the amount of Euro 5,294 thousand recorded
in the first half of 2008 through the effect of the reduced depreciation and provision for doubtful
receivables. Provision for doubtful receivables was allocated to specific and generic risks in the
recovery of trade receivables, having taken past experience into account. Provisions for liabilities
and charges amounted to Euro 1,307 thousand refer to periodic maintenance on aircraft, the risks
associated with the reorganisation of operations to long-haul, labour disputes and other litigation.

Note 33. Financial (income)/charges amounted to Euro 732 thousand, a decrease of Euro 556
thousand from the Euro 1,288 thousand in the first half of 2008. The change arose from less
interest payable on bank debts through the improved financial position over the first half of 2008
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and through the lower market interest rates, and lower interest on trade debts (included in the
item "Other finance income (expense)").

Note 34. Tax charges amounted to Euro 659 thousand and mainly include the partial deferral of
the taxes prepaid on the temporary differences in taxation and on the recoverable losses
recalculated under the New Business Plan.
The net loss for the period amounts to Euro 23,278 thousand. As the Eurofly share capital
comprises 354,795,770 shares, the figure per share is Euro 0.066.

4.6. Analysis of changes in net equity
During the course of the first half of 2009 the cash share capital increase deliberated by the
Shareholders' meeting on 10 September 2008 was brought to a completion. In more detail,
following the phase during which rights not taken up were put to auction, an additional 27,012,921
shares were subscribed for a total book value of Euro 2,701,292. In total on completion of the
share capital increase 326,751,332 new shares were issued for a total value of Euro
32,675,133.2. Direct costs of Euro 389 thousand were accounted for the increase in share capital,
net of deferred taxes of Euro 122 thousand.
Following the operations above and including the loss for the period, as at 30 June 2009 equity
stood at Euro 7,596 thousand and is made up of the following:
- Share capital of Euro 39,178 thousand;
- Share premium reserve of Euro 16,958 thousand;
- Legal/Statutory and Other reserves totalling a negative value of Euro 822 thousand;
- Retained earnings of Euro 24,441 thousand;
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- Net loss for the period of Euro 23,278 thousand.

As a result of the losses for the period, which are also a reflection of the notable seasonality of
Eurofly's business, the Share capital is lower than the level envisaged by article 2446 civil code
(Reduction of share capital for losses greater than one third).
For this reason the Board of Directors called a Shareholders' meeting for 28-29 September 2009
to deliberate the appropriate measures.

4.7. Financial position
4.7.1. Analysis of cash flow
As is illustrated in the cash flow statement, which depicts the change in cash and cash equivalents
through the period using the indirect method, the first half of 2009 featured a decrease in cash
availability of Euro 4,910 thousand. The flow of liquidity through the period is analysed below in
both of its components.

-

Cash flow from (used in) operating activities

During the period cash had a negative value of Euro 518 thousand. This absorption of liquidity is
due primarily to the pre-tax loss of Euro 22,619 thousand, offset by the reduction of net floating
capital. At the same time, depreciation and amortisation made a positive contribution of Euro 1,623
thousand.

-

Cash flow from (used in) investing activities

During the half-year period investments were made amounting to Euro 6,572 thousand, which
primarily were deposits to lessors for the supply of new aircraft (Euro 845 thousand) as well as
other investments in tangible and intangible assets (Euro 6,039 thousand) as a result of the
refurbishment of the warehouse at Malpensa, modifications for the improvement of on-board
service quality and the inclusion of new aircraft into the fleet.

-

Cash flow absorbed by financing activities

During the period, cash flows deriving from financing activities showed a negative value of Euro
254 thousand, and related to the payment of the instalments of the mortgage loan.

-

Cash flow from equity transactions
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Cash flows from equity transactions amounted to Euro 2,435 thousand during the period (net of
the related direct expenses reported as a reduction of the capital increase, with the relative
deferred taxes included). This cash flow was the effect of the cash capital increase deliberated by
the Shareholders' meeting of 10 September 2008, completed in January 2009 with the phase
during which rights not taken up were put to auction.

4.7.2. Net financial position
The net financial position as at 30 June 2009 was a positive value, Euro 902 thousand. The
change from the positive figure of Euro 5,557 thousand reported as at 31 December 2008 are
illustrated below.

For the letters C, D, I, K and O in particular the following can be illustrated:

C - Cash and cash equivalents
As at 30 June 2009 cash and cash equivalents amounted to Euro 11,040 thousand and
comprises cash securities and positive current account balances.

I - Current financial debt
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This value amounted to Euro 7,663 thousand and is made up of: i) debts with banks amounting to
Euro 7,100 thousand, of current account overdrafts; ii) the current portion of non-current
indebtedness for an amount of Euro 563 thousand.

O – Non-current financial debt
Non-current borrowings comprise non-current banking debts of Euro 2,474 thousand, and is the
amount of the mortgage loan with Banca Profilo due in more than 12 months.

As at 30 June 2009 total credit lines amount to Euro 16,000 thousand, with 44% utilisation,
security guarantees amount to Euro 11,394 thousand, with 89% utilised.

As at 30 June 2009 there were no past-due payables for tax and pension/welfare contributions.
Furthermore there were no past-due payables to related parties or to employees. As regards
trade payables, there were past-due trade debts amounting to approximately Euro 26.6 million, of
which Euro 3.4 million has been overdue for more than one year (the greater part of which are
subject to litigation). We can report no initiatives for the suspension of supplier relationships. We
can report no demands for payment of past-due debts, other than those falling within normal
management.

4.7.3. Confirmation of financial covenants
On 27 November 2007 the Company's bank debt restructuring programme was underwritten.
Banca Nazionale del Lavoro SpA, Unicredit Banca d’Impresa SpA and Intesa San Paolo SpA,
updated financing agreements entered into with Eurofly, substituting them with new agreements
having the following terms and conditions: (i) the banks having joint shares committed to provide
new standby revolving financing in cash in replacement of the existing financing up to a maximum
of Euro 15 million with a spread lower than the previous one; (ii) the term for the repayment of the
new financing was set at 36 months; (iii) the finance was accompanied by standard clauses
envisaged for similar operations as well as by financing covenants. Specifically these latter
conditions were given as the ratio between net financing indebtedness/EBITDAR and net
financing indebtedness/equity, to be calculated based on the annual balance sheet and the halfyearly management report with effect from the balance sheet as at 31 December 2007.
The reference ratios are given below:
•

Net financial debt/EBITDAR

- For 2007 no higher than (0.80)
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- For 2008 no higher than (0.60)
- For 2009 no higher than (0.15)
•

Net financial debt /equity

- For 2007 no higher than (2.80)
- For 2008 no higher than (1.80)
- For 2009 no higher than (0.35).

As at 30 June 2009 the Company's net financial position was positive and the covenants
illustrated above were fully complied with. However, based on the forecast data cited in
paragraph 2.3.1 "Review of 2009 budget and business plan", it can be foreseen that by 31
December 2009, without the appropriate capital intervention, the covenants will not be complied
with. Please refer to paragraph 2.4 "Anticipated management trends" for considerations provided
on the neutrality of relations with the banking system on the Company's short-term financing
equilibrium, bearing in mind the shareholder's commitment to sustain the Company and ensure its
business continuity.

4.8. Significant non-recurring events
The following paragraph illustrates the main significant non-recurring events of the half-year
period. For the sake of completeness of information please note that in the first quarter of 2009,
because of a technical problem concerning one long-haul aircraft, costs were sustained to
safeguard passenger safety and to manage the resulting delays. This had an effect on profits in
the amount of approximately Euro 0.8 million.
4.8.1. Solidarity agreement
As the paragraph on personnel mentioned, the Solidarity agreement was applied to all grades of
employees with effect from 1 April 2007, for a period of 24 months to March 2009. Such an
agreement is envisaged among the instruments that law 223/91 provides in alternative to
collective dismissal. The results for the half-year period had a positive contribution before tax
amounting to approximately Euro 2 million. This amount is not reflected in the business' liquidity,
as it was already required to be repaid by the relative Bodies.

4.8.2. Delays in the phase-out of the aircraft
The phase-out process for the aircraft I-EEZA and I-EEZB was complex and more costly than
expected and gave rise to high extraordinary expenses, in particular as a result of the costs of

67

refurbishing the aircraft to comply with the conditions of return, and the extra leasing costs from
the delay in redelivery. The total expense unanticipated by the budget amounted to approximately
Euro 3.5 million.

4.9. Segment reporting
Based on the rules of IAS 14, replaced by IFRS 8 from January 2009, Eurofly provides segment
information according to the distinction between medium and long-haul, as the two operations
have different business risks and benefits. The following are the main features of these two
Business Areas.
1) Medium-haul: Includes flights having duration of less than five hours, and covering the

European area and the Mediterranean basin, operated using the Company's A320 fleet or
with aircraft temporarily acquired from third parties under wet leases. As well as Italy,
medium-haul traffic is to and from Egypt, Greece, the Canary Islands, the Balearics and
Israel. Medium-haul operations feature a high degree of seasonality, associated with
summer tourism.
2) Long-haul: Includes flights having duration greater than five hours. The key destinations

are the Maldives, Kenya, Mexico, the Dominican Republic, New York, Senegal and the
Seychelles/Mauritius. Long-haul operations feature a lesser degree of seasonality.

The table below illustrates the revenue and profits (losses) divided between the two business
areas.
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4.10.

Transactions with related parties

As defined by IAS 24, Meridiana is a related party as it has the capacity to exercise a significant
influence on Eurofly's financial and operational decisions. Meridiana is Eurofly's main shareholder
with stock amounting to 59.58%. Eurofly is subject to the management and coordination of
Meridiana. The table below illustrates the capital, financing and profit/loss ratios of the Meridiana
group as at 30 June 2009.

Trade receivables include the amounts owed by Meridiana for the leasing of the Eurofly aircraft in
ACMI mode and billing the parent for codesharing. Trade payables are associated with the
services provided by the parent for maintenance, supervision, handling services and other
consulting and the account for the agency services supplied by Sameitaly and EF-USA.
Long-term financial assets refer to a security deposit paid by Eurofly to Meridiana against
collateral pledged by Meridiana with a lending institute for a security guarantee on the operating
lease of aircraft.
The revenues refer primarily to the billing of Meridiana for flights in ACMI mode, while the
expenses are associated primarily with maintenance, handling, supervision and consulting
supplied by Meridiana as well as the commissions earned by Meridiana on codesharing sales on
Eurofly flights, by Sameitaly on scheduled flights in Italy and by EF USA for agency operations in
the USA.

For greater clarity the following is an illustration of the main operating and trade relationships with
Meridiana, Wokita, Sameitaly and EF USA.
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Transactions with Meridiana
Transactions with Meridiana concern the following activities:
1. The provision of customer support services by both telephone and other communication
channels, using the Meridiana call centre;
2. Services for the optimisation of the capacity of the customer offer;
3. Consulting services in the pricing and distribution of products, market analysis, strategic
positioning;
4. Accounting services relating to scheduled operations revenues;
5. Market analysis & commercial reporting services;
6. Pricing, distribution and e-ticketing services;
7. Revenue accounting services for scheduled operations;
8. Website integrated and exclusive management service;
9. Codesharing services and medium and long-haul interline sales on flights;
10. Aircraft maintenance service and technical support;
11. Port handling services in certain airports;
12. Meridiana personnel secondments to Eurofly and vice versa, to cover operational posts;
13. The granting of certain slots at Milan Linate, free of charge;
14. Wet lease agreements relating to the rental of aircraft;
15. A guarantee by means of a letter of patronage issued by Meridiana for the Eurofly debt
restructuring.

Transactions with Sameitaly Srl
Eurofly has a general agency mandate with Sameitaly for the promotion of the sale of scheduled
and charter air transport services throughout the national territory with travel agencies and tour
operators against commissions calculated based on the margin component. The contract expires
at the end of 2012 and is renewable.

Transactions with Wokita Srl
Eurofly currently has a trade relationship with Wokita for the sale of empty seats on charter flights.
New agreements are under development for additional online ticket and package sales with the
aim of enabling Eurofly to sell its flight products to leisure destinations directly and easily to the
end customer, with significant savings through the lack of intermediaries.

Transactions with EF USA
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EF USA operations consist of handling sales and providing customer care services on behalf of
Eurofly in the North American territory, drawing an income through sales commissions. EF USA
draws the revenue from sales generated in the USA Territory directly on behalf of Eurofly,
periodically remitting these sums to Eurofly net of EF’s commissions and sales expenses.
Transactions with other companies of the Meridiana group
These include handling services, other ground support and accessory services provided by Geasar
SpA, the services franchisee at Olbia airport, Costa Smeralda.

4.11.

List of equity investments

In application of article 126 of Consob Regulation 11971, the following is a list of shareholdings in
unlisted companies greater than 10% of the voting rights as at 30 June 2009;

4.12.

Atypical or unusual operations

Pursuant to Consob Communication no. DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006, we report that the
Company has put into effect no atypical and/or unusual operations, as defined by the cited
Communication, during the course of the first half of 2009.

Milan, 28 August 2009

For the Board of Directors
The Chairman
Marco Rigotti
*******
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5.

First half Condensed Financial Statement Certification pursuant to
article

154-bis

of

Italian

Legislative

decree

58/1998

(Italian

consolidated finance act)
1.The undersigned, Giovanni Rossi, in his capacity as Chief Executive Officer, and Maurizio
Cancellieri, in his capacity of Financial Reporting Officer of Eurofly SpA, also considering the
requirements of article 154-bis, paragraphs 3 and 4, of Italian Legislative Decree no. 58, 24
February 1998, herewith certify:


the adequacy in relation to business characteristics and



the effective application

of administrative and accounting procedures in the preparation of the condensed half-yearly
financial statements, during the course of the period to 30 June 2009.
2. No significant aspects emerged in this respect.
3. It is also stated that the condensed half-yearly financial statements as at 30 June 2009:
a) have been compiled in compliance with the applicable international accounting standards
recognized in the European Union pursuant to Regulation (EC) no 1606/2002 of the
European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002;
b) correspond to the entries of the account books;
c) were compiled in compliance with the International Accounting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Board (IASB) adopted by the European Union and, to our
knowledge, provide a truthful and correct representation of the capital, profit/loss and
borrowing position of Eurofly SpA.
The interim management report includes a reliable analysis of the significant events that took
place in the first six months of the period and their effect on the condensed half-yearly financial
statements, together with a description of the key risks and uncertainties for the remaining six
months of the period. The interim management report also includes a reliable analysis of the
information on significant operations with related parties.

Milan, 28 August 2009

Giovanni Rossi

Maurizio Cancellieri

Chief Executive Officer

Financial Reporting Officer

_______________________

__________________________
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